
announcing that the Aera Furnace was in operation and ready for both wholesale and retail 

trade in ‘Salt Pans, Pots of all sizes, Kettles...Skellets, Dutch Ovens...Stoves...and 2, 3, or 4 

Pounders with Balls to suit...or any other castings in Iron....’”51  

In the 1790, Hill owned 84 slaves, a decrease in number from the 90 slaves confiscated 

in June of 1780 by Captain Huck of the British army.52 This demonstrates that although slave 

labor was not exploited on a massive scale for the majority of planters in the county at the end 

of the 18th century, the precedent for utilizing slavery on an industrial scale was certainly 

present. Following the Revolutionary War, families in the Upcountry like the Brattons were 

poised to transition their operations from smaller-scale farms to larger-scale plantations. This 

transition, one which would dramatically re-shape the landscape of the region, would be made 

possible with the introduction of short staple cotton and the domestic and global markets which 

valued it, as well as a more efficient means of processing the cotton crop to farm sites.  

 Cotton has been grown in the United States since its colonial settling. Author Sven 

Beckert writes, “As early as 1607, settlers in Jamestown had grown cotton; by the end of the 

seventeenth century, travelers had introduced cottonseeds from Cyprus and Izmir to American 

soil. Throughout the eighteenth century, farmers continued to gather knowledge about cotton 

cultivation from the West Indies and the Mediterranean and planted cottonseeds from these 

regions, primarily for domestic consumption.” Additionally, these channels of knowledge were 

fostered by the international slave trade. Many slaves bringing knowledge of cotton cultivation 

from abroad were particularly sought after. For example, one account in 1788 documents the 

51Louise Pettus, William Hill’s Iron Plantation (http://sites.rootsweb.com/~scyork/LouisePettus/whill.htm. 
2003). 
52 First Census of the United States: Heads of Families at the First Census 1790. Summary of population, by 
districts, counties, and parishes. Camden District, York County. 28-31.  
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PART II: SLAVERY AT BRATTONSVILLE AND SITES OF PARTICULAR INTEREST 

 In the opening pages of John Michael Vlach’s study Back of the Big House: The 

Architecture of Plantation Slavery, he cites several cases where freedmen returned to their 

former sites of enslavement following the Civil War insisting that  they be granted domain over 

the land they had previously worked, often for generations. Vlach writes that, “One South 

Carolina freedman, after several years of service in the Union Army, did, in fact, return to take 

charge of a section of the plantation where he had previously lived and worked. Ignoring 

protests of Thomas Pinckney, his former owner, he marched back to his old cabin and from its 

porch, rifle in hand, he declared, ‘Yes, I gwi wuk right here. I’d like tuh see any man put me outer 

dis house.’”72  

This same desire for land ownership coinciding with emancipation and newly found 

freedom is again reflected in the collective petition sent to President Andrew Johnson by a 

group of former slaves from Edisto Island, South Carolina wherein they protest the returning of 

plantation lands to their former owners. In it they declare, “This is our home. We have made 

these lands what they are.”73 Generally, the available information on the lives of Brattonsville’s 

slaves is not extensive. However, by analyzing the landscapes of similar sites, and taking into 

account the narratives of the slaves who lived and worked there, it becomes possible to fill in 

the gaps as to what the daily lives of the enslaved at Brattonsville may have entailed. Certainly, 

among the most vital concepts underlying this portion of the overall analysis is that of the 

duality by which slaves existed on plantations such as Brattonsville. On one hand, they worked 

within a landscape largely shaped and controlled by their owner. On the other, slaves found 

ways to “blunt some of the harsher edges of slavery’s brutality” by claiming portions of the 

72 Vlach, Preface.  
73 Vlach, Preface. 
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landscape for themselves through subtle acts of courageous resistance.74 As was felt by the 

freedmen and women in the cases relayed by Vlach, it is more than likely the case that many 

within Brattonsville’s slave community developed strong ties to the landscape of their 

enslavement and subsequently began to develop alternative spaces for their own survival.  

 The focus of this chapter will be on the period spanning the early development of the 

Homestead site in the 1820s, the peak of plantation activity in the 1840s, and the decline of 

Brattonsville roughly a decade before the beginning of the Civil War. Furthermore, this chapter 

will largely follow the model of study established by Vlach whereby the landscape of 

enslavement is better understood by first analyzing those aspects of the landscape which are 

most closely associated with the slaveholder. Vlach supports this tactic stating that, “The 

creation of a slaves’ landscape was a reactive expression, a response to the plans enacted by 

white landowners. To mark their dominance over both nature and other men, planters acquired 

acreage, set out boundaries of their holdings, had their fields cleared, selected building sites, 

and supervised the construction of dwellings and other structures.” Vlach continues, asserting 

that “Ultimately, the slaveholders’ world would become the raw material with which slaves 

would attempt to satisfy some of their own aspirations.”75 Throughout the first half of the 19th 

century, Brattonsville exhibited a capacity for expansion which far surpassed many of its 

regional counterparts. At its operational height under the ownership of John S. Bratton and his 

wife Harriet, the site’s black and white landscapes also reached distinctive levels of 

sophistication. Despite the former developing largely in response to the latter and relying on a 

degree of separateness for its survival, it is important to acknowledge that these landscapes also 

depended heavily on one another for their continuation. The white landscape of the planter 

74 Vlach, Preface. 
75 Vlach, 1. 
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would not exist without the exploited labor of their slaves, and the black landscape of the slave 

largely relied on the food and shelter provided, at least in part, by the slaveholder. By better 

understanding the relationship between the two forms of landscapes which existed at large 

plantation sites like Brattonsville, it also becomes possible to better understand those 

landscapes individually. Particularly those which have long succumbed to deterioration or have 

been lost, as is the case of countless landscapes of enslavement across the nation. 

 Throughout the first quarter of the 19th century, planters across the Southeast began to 

solidify their positions as prominent societal figures with the construction of new homesteads. 

For many like John S. Bratton, these building campaigns would represent the culmination of 

investments in both land and labor by preceding generations. The transition from the relatively 

humble dwelling of Colonel William Bratton to the manorial estate of his son was not only 

supported by inherited wealth but was also accompanied by a shifting regional perception of the 

plantation and planter themselves. Author John Michael Vlach reminds us that “For most of the 

seventeenth century, a southern planter was a poor farmer who held claim to about a hundred 

acres and owned no slaves.”76 Many traveler’s accounts of the Southern colonies during this 

time portrayed planters’ residences as lacking in basic conveniences, often making note of their 

very basic construction and the seemingly disorganized nature of their surrounding fields. 

According to a 1696 report by English revenue agent Edward Randolph, the way that Virginia 

planters would establish their farms was to first:  

cut down a few trees and make therewith a little Hut, covering it with the bark and turn 
two or three hogs into the woods by it: Or else they are to clear one Acre of that land, 
and to plant and tend it one year: But they fell twenty or thirty trees, and put a little 
Indian corn in the ground among them where they lye, and sometimes make a 
beginning to fence it, but take no care of their Crop, nor make and further use of their 
land.77  

76 Vlach, 2. 
77 Quoted in Edmund S Morgan, American Slavery American Freedom: The Ordeal of Colonial Virginia, 220. 
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Despite the majority of early planter homesteads falling neatly within the descriptive boundaries 

of Randolph’s report, by the last quarter of the seventeenth century a small class of planter 

elites began to assemble vast land holdings with stately mansions at their center. Estates such as 

Bacon’s Castle (Cir. 1665) and Middleton Place (Cir. 1740s) are among the earliest examples of 

the sites which largely served to transform public perceptions of the typical plantation from that 

of a crude farmstead to a manicured showplace. Vlach addresses this transition by stating that 

these places were “No longer just a large farm run with supervised labor, from the middle of the 

eighteenth century onward the ideal plantation was a large, tastefully appointed country estate 

belonging to a prominent gentleman.”78 Planters in the Chesapeake and Carolinas seeking to 

fulfill this new ideal often modeled their estates after those found in England. For example, 

Mann Page found inspiration for the construction of his mansion at Rosewell from Cound Hall in 

Shropshire and William Byrd II “is believed to have based the design of Westover, the great 

house overlooking the James that he built in 1735, on Drayton Court, the Northamptonshire 

seat of the Earl of Peterborough.”79 

  In addition to the attempts to emulate the architecture of English manor houses, these 

sites utilized their surrounding landscapes to establish a visual hierarchy, placing their 

residences at the center. Historian Dell Upton suggests in his essay White and Black Landscapes 

in Eighteenth-Century Virginia that the “private plantation usurped in many respects the 

functions of the town, and the planter appropriated to himself the prerogatives and the good of 

the community.” He continues, stating that “In effect, the plantation was a village, with the 

planter’s house as its town hall.”80 As is the case for many important civic buildings such as town 

78 Vlach, 5. 
79 Vlach, 4. 
80 Dell Upton, “White and Black Landscapes of Eighteenth-Century Virginia”, Places 2, no. 2. 1984, 63.   
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halls or courthouses, the planter often chose the highest point within the site to construct their 

residence. This strategy however was one among many within a much larger and complexly 

designed landscape used by planters to reinforce their positions of power. Upton refers to the 

planter’s landscape as being both articulated and processional, stating that, “It was articulated 

in the sense that it consisted of a network of spaces – rooms in the house, the house itself, the 

outbuildings, the church with its interior pews and surrounding walled yard – that were linked 

by roads and that functioned as the settings for public interactions that had their own particular 

character but that worked together to embody the community as a whole.” 81 

 

 

BRATTONSVILLE’S WHITE LANDSCAPE  

 When analyzing the Homestead House and its surrounding landscape considering 

analyses such as those completed by Vlach and Upton, one is able to draw out important 

comparisons which help to define the planter’s landscape at Brattonsville. The Homestead 

House itself, constructed from 1823 to 1826, stands as both a testimony to shifting stylistic 

ideals from the older plantations of the coast to the newer plantations of the piedmont as well 

as the resourcefulness and skill of regional construction practices (Appendix A, fig. 1.1). In his 

analysis of plantation landscapes across the Southeast, Vlach suggests that the plantation form 

of the Tidewater was diffused by a second generation of planters seeking their fortunes in the 

piedmonts of Georgia and South Carolina. He supports this notion by dividing examples of the 

largest plantation operations into three historically distinct but stylistically interrelated zones. 

He writes: 

81 Upton, “White and Black Landscapes of Eighteenth-Century Virginia”, 64-65. 
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The oldest and generally most prominent plantations were located in a coastal region 
extending from the Chesapeake Bay to northern Florida and not more than a hundred 
miles inland from the Atlantic. A second concentration of large plantation estates 
occupied a fifty-mile wide arc of cotton lands through the middle portions of South 
Carolina, Georgia, and Alabama, terminating in eastern Mississippi. A third plantation 
zone consisted of the fertile bottomlands of the lower Mississippi Valley, from just 
above Memphis to below New Orleans.82  

Brattonsville, located within Vlach’s second zone, offers substantial evidence that its stylistic 

development was directly influenced by the estates of the coastal zone. For example, the 

estates located in Vlach’s first zone likely inspired John S. Bratton to invest in valuable finishes 

for the interior of his house, specifically, the use of expensive paints (particularly reds and golds) 

and faux finishes. In the same way that the bright yellows and blues dazzled visitors to 

Monticello and Mt. Vernon, the interior design choices at the Homestead House would largely 

serve to emphasize the Bratton family’s wealth and their desire to communicate their 

heightened social standing to all those who entered. The four-over-four layout of the house split 

by a central hallway along with the later additions of the northern and southern wings (Cir. 

1840) and two-story piazza (originally added in 1854) beckon to the symmetry and highly 

rational formalism of older and more architecturally complex estates such as Westover, 

Stratford Hall, and Drayton Hall. Likewise, symmetry is expressed in the orderly arrangement of 

dependency structures as they relate to the Homestead House, a tactic employed by countless 

other plantation sites to enforce the planter’s dominance over the landscape (Appendix A, fig. 

1.2). Vlach addresses this point stating, “The World was, in their view, suitably improved only 

after it was transformed from its chaotic natural condition into a scene marked by strict, 

hierarchical order. The planters’ landscapes were laid out with straight lines, right-angle corners, 

82 Vlach, 6-7. 
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